## Critical overview of mitochondrial nitric-oxide synthase

### Kazunobu Kato and Cecilia Giulivi

University of California, School of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Molecular Biosciences, Davis, CA 95616, USA

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Discovery of mtNOS
- 4. Assessment of mtNOS activity
  - 4.1. Electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR)
  - 4.2. Oxymyoglobin / Oxyhemoglobin assays
  - *4.3. L-citrulline assay*
  - 4.4. Fluorometric assays
  - 4.5. Electrode microsensors
- 5. Calcium signaling and activation of mtNOS
- 6. Molecular targets of mtNOS
- 7. Subcellular localization of mtNOS
- 8. mtNOS phosphorylation
- 9. mtNOS vs. nitric-oxide activity in mitochondria
- 10. mtNOS in NO-related biological phenomena
- 11. mtNOS change under pathophysiological conditions
- 12. Transcription / translation regulation of mtNOS
- 13. Conclusions
- 14. Acknowledgements
- 14. Acknowledgemen
- 15. References

# 1. ABSTRACT

The recent discovery of mitochondrial nitricoxide synthase (mtNOS) has provided novel information on mitochondrial biology. mtNOS, localized at the inner membrane, functions as one of the important regulatory factors that affect cellular respiration in mitochondria. The distribution of mtNOS in diverse organs of many species suggests its biological importance. Changes in mtNOS expression and activity in many pathophysiological situations may imply its significant involvement in various NO-related biological phenomena. The functional coordination of mtNOS with other NOSs present in the same or adjacent tissues is unknown as it is most of the regulatory mechanisms of mtNOS expression. Thus, future studies will be required to validate the physiological significance of mtNOS, and to elucidate its regulatory mechanisms on cellular energy metabolism in mitochondria.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Nitric oxide (NO) is a short-lived gaseous free radical, which participates in diverse biochemical reactions. NO was first identified as an important endogenous signaling molecule (1-2). As a consequence, a significant numbers of studies have been published to explore its diverse biological functions. NO functions were identified originally in the vascular system. NO is part of the local vasodilatory effect (2), and of the inhibitory effect on platelet aggregation and adhesion (3). Besides these effects in the cardiovascular system, other important roles of NO have been reported in nervous and immune systems. For example, NO acts as a non-adrenergic, non-cholinergic neurotransmitter of corpus cavernosum of the penis (4), and gastrointestinal tract (5). Thus, the importance of NO in physiological and pathological situations is not limited to relaxing endothelium, but can be extended to other complex, important biological systems.

NO actions have been described as beneficial or harmful depending essentially on the concentration of NO produced and the localization of this production. At relatively low concentrations, NO mediates the anti-anginal and anti-ischaemic effects of nitroglycerine (6). Overproduction of NO leads to damage of the endothelium and smooth muscle cells during septic shock (7-8), or impairs neurons in certain neurodegenerative diseases (9). Furthermore, it has been indicated that NO could promote opposite effects such as tumor proliferation and tumor apoptosis (10).

Nitric oxide is produced by an enzyme named nitric-oxide synthase (NOS). This enzyme is classified into two categories according to the different expression forms: cNOS or constitutively expressed form, and iNOS or inducible form. In general, the constitutive forms produce low level of NO, mainly used as a signal molecule. iNOS has a higher rate of NO production and is activated in response to pathological changes like infection or inflammation (11). Constitutive NOSs require the activation by Ca<sup>2+</sup>-calmodulin, whereas iNOS is less sensitive to calcium concentrations (12) because it is tightly bound to calmodulin. From the three NOS isoforms of which genes have been cloned, endothelial (eNOS) and neuronal (nNOS) are constitutive NOSs. However, isoform names do not necessarily reflect the tissue of origin, e.g., eNOS has been detected in cells other than endothelial (13). In this study, the isoforms will be referred by the following nomenclature according to current literature: nNOS (neuronal NOS, bNOS, NOS-1, and Type I), iNOS (inducible NOS, macNOS, mNOS, NOS-2 and Type II), eNOS (endothelial NOS, cNOS, NOS-3, and Type III).

Endogenous NO is synthesized by NOS using L-arginine and NADPH as a substrates, in the presence of oxygen. The enzyme contains a heme, and utilizes various cofactors such as tetrahydrobiopterin, FAD, calmodulin, calcium, and FMN (14). This reaction is catalyzed by all the three isoforms of NOS, resulting in the production of NO gas and L-citrulline. In detail, two successive reactions comprise this monooxygenation reaction: the first step is the conversion from L-arginine to Nw-hydroxy-L-arginine, an intermediate, with the use of one molecule of NADPH as an electron donor; the second step is the conversion from this intermediate to L-citrulline, with the use of half molecule of NADPH as an electron donor, resulting in the production of NO (12, 15).

Mitochondria are a key organelle for cellular metabolism; however, a link between energy mitochondria and NO had not been fully recognized 1990s when immunohistochemical until and biochemical studies presented evidence of NOS in these organelles (16-22). In the last decade, many novel facts on mtNOS have been elucidated although much of its physiological aspects have not yet been fully understood. The goal of this study is to present recent advances in mtNOS, illustrate issues not clarified in detail, and describe future research to be undertaken in this subject.

## 3. DISCOVERY OF mtNOS

The occurrence of NOS in rat skeletal muscle mitochondria was first suggested by a similar distribution immunohistochemical pattern of eNOS antigen and succinate dehydrogenase (16). In another study, a similar immunohistochemical pattern of nNOS and cytochrome oxidase was reported (19). Electron microscopy studies using gold immunolabelling of eNOS presented further indication of the occurrence of a NOS localized in mitochondria from rat liver, brain, heart, skeletal muscle, and kidney (17-18). Following these immunohistochemical studies, a breakthrough of mtNOS was brought by two independent laboratories, providing the first biochemical evidence of the NO production by mtNOS (20-22). Using mitochondria-rich fractions, Ghafourifar et al showed NOS activity in mitochondria, its modulation by calcium concentrations, and control of mitochondrial respiration by mtNOS (20). Using purified rat liver mitochondria (not enriched fractions which contain substantial contributions of other subcellular compartments) and two spectroscopic techniques, our laboratory provided the biochemical evidence of NO production by mtNOS and the unequivocal presence of this enzyme in mitochondria from hepatocytes, excluding macrophages or other cell contributions (21-22). Our lab provided the biochemical evidence for a regulation of the oxygen consumption at the cytochrome oxidase level, excluding other effects of NO on putative targets along the respiratory chain (21). After the occurrence of mtNOS was reported in rat liver, mtNOS has been suggested in brain (23-29), kidney (28-29), heart (30-32) and thymus (33-35). However, mitochondria-rich fractions from these organs are highly heterogeneous responding to the diverse tissue contribution. For example, "brain" mitochondria can be the result of neurons and glia, of synaptosomal and non-synaptosomal origin, among other options, of not purified accordingly.

## 4. ASSESSMENT OF mtNOS ACTIVITY

The evaluation of mtNOS activity has been proven to be experimentally challenging. Two factors may account for this issue; first, mtNOS activity cannot be detected when NO consumption in mitochondria exceeds NO production (36-37). Mitochondria are the organelle where a substantial amount of NO is consumed (38), and the main consumption location might be the inner mitochondrial membrane (39). Several pathways for NO consumption in mitochondria have been proposed; one of them may involve cytochrome c oxidase (40-43). When mtNOS activity is intended to be evaluated, controls such cross-contamination with other subcellular as compartments, hemoproteins (such as hemoglobin or myoglobin, released during the tissue or organelle isolation, which will bind effectively NO), arginase (which will consume arginine), coupling of the organelles, threshold and specificity of the analytical method that will be used to follow NO, should be accurately evaluated. In addition to these experimental issues, the rate of NO production by mtNOS is low (about 2 nmol/min mg protein) and the enzyme is not abundant when compared to other mitochondrial components.

Second, the short-life of NO as a gaseous free radical poses a problem due to its diffusion, hydrophobicity, and reactivity. Thus, every NO measurement method has limitations and pitfalls, and those should be accurately tested before reaching conclusions. Most of the researchers recruit a combination of methods to circumvent some of the above-indicated limitations.

### 4.1. Electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR)

EPR electron-spin-resonance or (ESR) spectroscopy is a technique that allows a chemical species with unpaired electrons like free radicals to be detected by measuring the absorption of microwave radiation (44-45). When the spin trap (monogalactosyl diacylglycerol)<sub>2</sub>/Fe<sup>II</sup> reacts with NO. a relatively stable NO-spin trap adduct is formed, and a unique triplet EPR spectrum can be observed. Several studies had used EPR to follow NO production using mitochondria (15, 21). Although this assay is very specific for NO, the detection level is rather low (micromolar levels). The stability of the NO-spin trap should be tested in each experimental setting for reduction of this adduct to EPR-silent species can be observed leading to false negatives.

# 4. 2. oxymyoglobin / oxyhemoglobin assays

NOS activity can be indirectly quantified by another spectrophotometric measurement, namely the oxidation of oxymyoglobin (oxyMb) to metmyoglobin (metMb) by NO (46-47). This reaction is considered to be one of the important processes for NO catabolism (48). The relative high sensitivity of this assay allows detecting nanomolar levels of NO. A relatively high concentration of Hb or Mb can be used to overcome the possible consumption of NO by other hemoproteins, thus favoring an accurate reflection of the rate of NO production. When using this method, it is highly recommended the use of a dual-wavelength, double-beam spectrophotometer for the change in absorbance could be masked by endogenous hemoproteins, normal constituents of the respiratory chain. A drawback of the method is its specificity towards NO; to this end, N<sup>G</sup>-monomethyl L-arginine (L-NMMA), a specific inhibitor of NOS, should be used in order to determine "true" NO production by mitochondria. Only the portion of oxyMb oxidation sensitive to L-NMMA represents NO production (20).

#### 4.3. L-citrulline assay

In L-citrulline assay, NOS activity is detected based on the conversion of radiolabeled <sup>14</sup>C-L-arginine or <sup>3</sup>H-L-arginine to L-citrulline (49-50). This assay has been challenged because of the crosstalk between NO and the urea cycle in organs where a significant activity of this cycle is present, such as liver and kidney (36). To eliminate this effect, it is required to introduce in the isolation of mitochondria procedure, several washes with high ionic strength solution (e.g., potassium chloride) to remove arginase from the outer mitochondrial membrane. The efficiency of these washes needs to be checked by following urea production from arginase (22, 51). As an alternative (or in addition), inhibitors of arginase could be added to the medium when urea cycle enzymes (or aborted cycles) are presumed to be present.

### 4.4. Fluorometric assays

Fluorometric probes are powerful tools to detect NO production by NOS. 5-diaminofluorescein (DAF-2) is converted to a fluorescent compound (DAF-triazole) in the presence of NO. The fluorescence of the triazole has been used to temporally and spatially visualize NO production (52-56). However, the triazole is not obtained from the direct reaction of NO (only 18% seems to be attributed to this reaction; 52), but rather from a reaction (with no clear stoichiometry) between DAF and possibly N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (52). It is also not clear if the triazole is actually formed at the site of NO production-indicating co-localization of NO production and the product of the sensor molecule, or if the triazole, formed somewhere within the cell, diffuses to mitochondria ought to the hydrophobicity of this compound, or if the triazole is formed at the mitochondrial membrane due to the favored partition of NO in hydrophobic media. The strength of this assay might be the possibility of imaging NO production in real time. A recent study reported that the specificity problem could be ascribed to the reaction of DAF with dehydroascorbic and ascorbic acids (57). The assay is still valuable if it is used with the combination with the other NOS assays and with the previsions indicated above for real-time bioimaging (58-60).

### 4.5. Electrode microsensors

Electrode microsensors allow the direct detection of NO, and they can be visually set in the proximity of mitochondria under phase-contrast microscopy. Two types of microsensors have been used for NO detection: amperometric (61-65) and porphyrinic sensors (66). The detection of NO release in brain tissue was first reported by Shibuki in 1990 using an amperometric sensor (63). Kanai *et al* demonstrated NO production by isolated mitochondria using a porphyrinic microsensor tip (66). The drawback of this methodology is that it can only measure the concentration of NO resultant from its rate of production and consumption. Therefore, it is not feasible to evaluate the rate of NO production accurately.

# 5. CALCIUM SIGNALING AND ACTIVATION OF mtNOS

Intracellular calcium signaling has a crucial role in mitochondrial metabolism. Its functional importance has been extensively investigated in various situations, e.g. involvement in programmed cell death by promoting the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPT; 67-68). Calcium is required to activate eNOS and nNOS through the binding to calmodulin (12). Like other constitutive NOSs, calcium has been found as one of the important cofactors for mtNOS activity (22), and its requirement for the activity is concentration dependent (20).

Calcium uptake in mitochondria is mediated by the calcium uniporter. This uptake is electrogenic, driven by the mitochondrial membrane potential. An antiporter that exchanges calcium for protons or sodium, depending on the tissue, mediates the efflux of calcium. It has been proposed that uptake of calcium by respiring mitochondria



Figure 1. Models for calcium-mediated activation of mtNOS. A: Upon calcium influx, activation of mtNOS leads to the formation of NO. The radical recombination of NO with superoxide anion-the latter species derived from the electron transport chain-results in the formation of peroxynitrite. This species has been proposed to stimulate the efflux of calcium from mitochondria. As calcium levels decrease, a deactivation of mtNOS ensues. B: Calcium, released from ER pools, activates mtNOS in mitochondria located closer to ER. The uptake of calcium by mitochondria and ER creates a gradient of calcium; mitochondria beyond these microdomains, are exposed to less calcium and are able to activate the calcium-dependent dehydrogenases. This differential activation is based on the different calcium EC50 for Krebs' cycle and mtNOS, and the mitochondria-ER crosstalk upon stimulation.

may lead to increased peroxynitrite formation in mitochondria (Figure 1A; 20). Peroxynitrite seems to cause calcium release (69) *via* the pyridine nucleotide-dependent pathway (70-71) followed by mtNOS deactivation (Figure 1A). These observations have been interpreted as part of a feedback loop that prevents calcium overloading and allows its release, preserving membrane potential (20). The occurrence of this mechanism requires a significant production of peroxynitrite, likely to happen during State 4 when the mitochondrial production of superoxide anion is significant. However, the release or efflux of calcium from mitochondria has not necessarily been temporally associated with State 4, and considering the high reactivity of peroxynitrite, it is difficult to reconcile a specific chemistry between this species and the calcium antiporter as suggested before (69). The conditions for the applicability of this model seem to be more compatible with stress situations (72).

The affinity of the uniporter has been reported as higher than 5 microM (73), thus, high cytosolic calcium concentrations are required to cause a significant mitochondrial calcium uptake. Consequently, close physical proximity between calcium-releasing domains (such as calcium channels, ryanodine receptors, or IP3 receptors) and mitochondria is required for significant mitochondrial calcium uptake (74-76). It has been demonstrated that the response of mitochondria to calcium uptake is highly heterogeneous upon cell activation (77). Mitochondria in proximity to the calcium-releasing domains uptake a significant amount of calcium (Figure 1B; 76, 78), whereas those located far from these sources, take up relatively less (Figure 1B; 76). Interestingly, elevation in cytosolic calcium concentrations higher than 1 microM has been shown to cause an enhanced association of mitochondria with ER (79), and to arrest mitochondrial motility (80). This arrest of mitochondria movement by calcium may provide assistance with calcium clearance by supporting both ATP-dependent calcium pumps and calcium buffering (80). Mitochondria at sites of high cytosolic calcium could uptake enough calcium to stimulate the calcium-dependent dehydrogenases and mtNOS, resulting in a 30 to 40% inhibition of the oxygen consumption. These mitochondria will continue to produce ATP, although at a slower rate, limiting calcium diffusion to other sites of the cell by supporting the energy needs of calcium-ATPases. The slower oxygen consumption at these foci may delay the onset of anoxia, allowing oxygen to diffuse to these sites, preventing the known overproduction of reactive oxygen species that results from the reoxygenation of a fully reduced electron transport chain. Mitochondria, far from these foci, will be exposed to enough calcium to support the activation of the dehydrogenases, and the consequent ATP production. The availability of oxygen to these latter sites will be favored by the nitric oxide-mediated smoothing of the oxygen gradient.

Various pathophysiological conditions need to be assessed to evaluate the relevance of these two mechanisms -depicted in Figure 1— in terms of the regulation of cellular oxygen consumption by calcium. In this regard, two opposite phenomena via calcium signaling affect the oxygen consumption by mitochondria. On the one hand, calcium activates mtNOS activity and mtNOS-produced NO inhibits cytochrome c oxidase in a competitive manner, resulting in the decrease in oxygen consumption (22, 81-82). On the other hand, calcium activates the citric acid cycle by enhancing the activity of three key metabolic pyruvate dehydrogenase, NAD<sup>+</sup>-dependent enzymes, isocitrate dehydrogenase, and 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase or alpha-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase (67-68), increasing NADH production and by mass action, the oxygen consumption. Therefore, it is important to elucidate how these two pathways are connected when calcium levels arises in the cytosol.



Figure 2. Activation of Krebs' cycle and mtNOS by calcium. The activity increases for Krebs' cycle and mtNOS were calculated considering the  $EC_{50}$  for calcium and Vmax for both alpha-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase (as one of the calcium-dependent dehydrogenases of the Krebs' cycle; yellow line) and mtNOS (black line). The resultant of both activations (red line) were calculated based on the stimulation of oxygen consumption by calcium in the presence of NMMA and the inhibition of oxygen consumption by NO by using published data (51, 83).

Using differential experimental settings is one of the excellent methods to evaluate the contribution of these two pathways. If oxygen consumption is followed, supplementation of mitochondria with L-Arg will result in the effect of calcium on mtNOS and Krebs' cycle, whereas the supplementation with NMMA, the specific inhibitor for NOS, only inhibits the function of mtNOS, not Krebs' cycle, eliminating the effect of mtNOS. The subtraction of oxygen consumption of the latter from the former can represent the substantial effect of calcium on mtNOS activity. This strategy successfully showed that the calcium requirement under normoxic condition (220-250 microM oxygen) is different for the calciumdependent dehydrogenases (0.16 microM) and for mtNOS (0.9 microM; 51). Similar conclusions were observed under hypoxic conditions (or normoxic conditions for mitochondria; 30 microM oxygen; 83), although mitochondria stored 3-times more calcium than under 220 microM oxygen.

The activity of Krebs' cycle (represented by the activation of alpha-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase) and mtNOS are increased as calcium concentration is increased (Figure 2). The stimulation resultant of cell respiration is increased with calcium, but as mtNOS activity is activated at higher concentrations of calcium, the overall oxygen consumption decreases. Thus, the effect of calcium on cell respiration has to be revisited considering the effect on matrix dehydrogenases, NO production, and the actual [NO]/[oxygen] ratio due to the competitive nature of the cytochrome c oxidase regulation.

## 6. MOLECULAR TARGETS OF mtNOS

It is of significance to explore how mtNOS affects downstream targets. Two targets have been reported to date: guanylate cyclase, and cytochrome c oxidase. First, the receptor for NO is a soluble isoform of guanylate cyclase (sGC; 81-82). NO binds to the prosthetic heme moiety of sGC, a heterodimeric hemoprotein. Then the NO-activated sGC catalyzes the conversion of GTP to the second messenger molecule cGMP and causes a variety of physiological events (84-86).

Second, the direct binding of NO to cytochrome c oxidase has been proved (81-82). The inhibitory effect of NO on mitochondrial oxygen consumption is caused by the competition between NO and oxygen for a binding site at the binuclear center of cytochrome c oxidase (40). A recent report provided evidence for a direct interaction of the PDZ domain of mtNOS with a subunit of cytochrome c oxidase (31). Our lab has found the same interaction and extended this protein-protein interaction to other subunits of cytochrome c oxidase in the presence of calcium (Haynes and Giulivi, submitted manuscript). The evidences provided by our others' research indicate that cytochrome c oxidase is the most important molecular target of NO produced by mtNOS (87).

#### 7. SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF mtNOS

In addition to the biochemical features of mtNOS, some of its biological aspects have been well examined: its subcellular distribution and epigenetic modification. Concerning subcellular location, several studies showed that mtNOS is a membrane-bound enzyme. The initial histochemical study proposed that mtNOS was bound to the inner mitochondrial membrane based on the antigen co-localization of NOS and succinate dehydrogenase (16). Electron microscope analysis using gold particles immunolabelling supported this fact (17). The comparison of the rates of submitochondrial particle (SMP) and whole mitochondrial indicated that most of the NOS activity was detected in the former fraction (21-22). These results leaded to the conclusion that mtNOS was localized at the inner mitochondrial membrane in rat liver.

Several lines of studies have elucidated epigenetic modification of mtNOS, which might affect the subcellular localization of mtNOS. To date, the two posttranslational modifications of mtNOS have been reported are the following: acylation with myristic acid and phosphorylation at the *C*-terminus (88). The former modification could determine the distribution of mtNOS.

Our laboratory presented different acylation pattern for mtNOS from that of eNOS. In our research, the blocking of the *N*-terminal group in mtNOS during the experimental isolation procedure and subsequent SDS-PAGE analysis was demonstrated by the unfeasibility of the Edman protein sequence analysis which requires a free *N*-terminal amino group. The published discrepancies in molecular sizes of mtNOS (besides the general lack of proteolytic inhibitors use during purification and isolation procedures when using biological materials), the identity of mtNOS as nNOS alpha, and the reported acylation pattern may result in an altered electrophoretic mobility pattern. To verify the acylation of mtNOS, samples of purified mtNOS were precipitated with acetone, and washed with organic solvent to remove any unspecifically bound lipids. After the treatment of this sample with alkaline methanolysis, mass spectrometry was performed to identify the fatty acids. The analysis showed mtNOS was acylated with myristic acid via an ester bond (88). No evidence for palmitoylation of mtNOS was found in this study.

The co-/post-translation modifications have been observed mainly in eNOS. The double acylation, myristoylation and palmitoylation, modifies eNOS, and the biological importance have been extensively discussed (89-95). Palmitoylation of iNOS has been recently reported only in mouse myoblast cell line (96). No acylation has been found for nNOS to date. Therefore mtNOS is unique in terms of the fact that it is only myristoylated via an ester bond (88). It is noteworthy that mtNOS was myristoylated via an ester bond, not via an amide linkage (88). Two types of protein myristoylation have been found until now: *N*myristoylation in which the fatty acid is linked via a hydroxylamine-resistant amide linkage (97) and *E*myristoylation via a hydroxylamine-labile thioester linkage (98-99).

The peptide sequence of mtNOS does not have a consensus sequence for myristoylation site like (MGXXXS/T; 100-101), indicating that mtNOS was not myristoylated at an *N*-terminal glycine residue (88). Myristic acid is bound to mtNOS via an ester bond in our study, not through an *N*-terminal Gly (88); however, the specific residue for the ester linkage has not yet been determined. Much of the modification mechanism and biological significance of mtNOS myristoylation remains unknown. *N*-myristoylation seems to be mainly co-translational (12, 102-104), whereas *E*-myristoylation can occur post-translationally (98).

Concerning the functional importance, Emyristoylation could increase hydrophobicity of mtNOS and contribute to a stronger anchoring of mtNOS to inner mitochondrial membrane. In principle, fatty acid acylation, like myristoylation and palmitoylation, functions as important lipid-membrane anchors (101). For example, both fatty acyl modifications of eNOS are essential for its binding to caveolae membrane (92). Without these modifications, eNOS cannot properly localize to the membrane and act as a membrane-bound enzyme (105). iNOS and nNOS are predominantly cytosolic proteins probably because of the lack of acylation (102, 106). Extrapolating the acylation roles from other NOSs, it could be suggested that *E*-myristoylation of mtNOS is required for a proper localization of mtNOS at the mitochondrial membranes given that hydrophobic (and positively charged) compounds tend to partition to mitochondria.

The *N*-terminal PDZ domain of mtNOS can be synergistic with the targeting given by *E*-myristoylation. In

contrast to the previous notion that nNOS is mainly soluble owing to the lack of acylation, some authors showed that a substantial portion of nNOS was found in the particulate fraction (107). Moreover, it has been reported that the interaction between PDZ domain of nNOS and its counterpart proteins, PSD (postsynaptic density)-95, PSD-93 or skeletal muscle alpha1-Syntrophin, mediate the membrane association of nNOS (108). This interaction regulates the distribution and activity of the enzyme (109). Considering that mtNOS is identified as nNOS alpha bearing a PDZ domain (88), it is assumed that specific protein-protein interaction via PDZ domain might play a role in membrane targeting and/or protein-protein interaction of mtNOS. In this regard, a recent study indicated a direct interaction between the PDZ domain of mtNOS and one of the subunits of cytochrome c oxidase (31). Future research is required to explore the targeting mechanisms of mtNOS because it would affect the regulation of cytochrome c oxidase activity, respiratory rate and oxygen consumption (110).

## 8. mtNOS PHOSPHORYLATION

Phosphorylation at the C-terminus has also been discovered in mtNOS (88). The presence of phosphatase inhibitor during the mtNOS sample preparation allowed detecting a phosphorylated fragment by MALDI-TOF analysis. It was suggested that the phosphorylation occurs at a Ser residue for the fragment lacks Tyr or Thr residues. From the three possible Ser residues present in this fragment, Ser-1412 in mtNOS is considered as the most likely site of phosphorylation, based on the alignment with human and bovine eNOS peptide sequences and the deduction from Akt phosphorylation motif. The phosphorylation of Ser-1177 in human eNOS and that of Ser-1179 in bovine eNOS is the important regulatory factor to control the enzyme activity (111-114). The significance of this phosphorylation of mtNOS has been unknown, but phosphorylation at the C-terminus might be important to modulate the mtNOS activity and/or protein-protein interactions.

# 9. mtNOS vs. NITRIC-OXIDE ACTIVITY IN MITOCHONDRIA

Early studies showed immunoreactivity of mitochondria to anti-eNOS (16-18) in rat liver, brain, heart, kidney and skeletal muscle and to anti-nNOS (19) in human skeletal muscle. Solid evidence that mtNOS is one of the nNOS isoforms was provided by two independent groups using advanced protein technology and genetically modified murine models.

First, our laboratory provided the evidence that the mtNOS had an identical protein sequence to nNOS alpha using MALDI-TOF method for peptide mass fingerprinting (PMF; 88). To this end, purified mitochondria were subjected to two-dimensional electrophoresis to obtain a higher resolution in the separation of co-migrating proteins, followed by in-gel digestion and peptide sequence of the fragments. Trypsinor endoproteinase V8-digested fragments had a 100% homology to rat nNOS isoform. Because four splice variants of full-length of nNOS (nNOS alpha) had been reported (nNOS beta, nNOS mu, NOS gamma and NOS-2), further work was done to identify which variant was closest to mtNOS. nNOS gamma and nNOS-2 variants were excluded since mtNOS had no fragments consistent to these isoforms. RT-PCR of mRNA from liver rat mitochondria with validated controls eliminated the possibility of nNOS beta and nNOS mu based on the amplified size of the PCR products. Moreover, it was proved that the amplified product specifically matched most of the transcript sequence that only nNOS alpha contained.

experiments Second. using genetically engineered murine model lacking the three isoforms of NOS strengthened the above conclusions (66). Kanai et al reported that no mtNOS was detected from nNOS-deficient mouse whereas mtNOS was detected in both eNOS- and iNOS-deficient mice. Only nNOS alpha variant was missing in the murine model because the targeting construct removed only exon-2 containing PDZ domain (115), which is the unique domain for the nNOS alpha. The other nNOS variants were expressed in the murine model. This result indicated that mtNOS in mouse heart was the product encoded by the nNOS alpha gene. These results have clearly ruled out the possibility that a unique gene encodes specifically for mtNOS, or that mtNOS is a new isoform or variant of NOS, regardless of the species (mouse, rat) or organ (heart, liver).

Despite these reports, many conflicting results about mtNOS isoform have been published. As an example, a recent report indicated that mtNOS was none of the three NOS isoforms based solely on the immunoreactivity of antibodies to NOS (116). According to Boveris et al, two forms of mtNOS exist; mtNOS-1 (145 kDa) localized in brain whereas mtNOS-2 (130 kDa) is in liver, thymus and kidney (117). This classification is based only on crossreactivity to isoform-specific antibodies without considering tissue-specific posttranslational modifications of NOS.

Experimental settings and understanding of the technique limitations are the basis for most of these observations regarding identification of mtNOS. The three main reasons are the following: (a) cross-reactivity of isoform-specific anti-NOS antibodies, (b) different sources of mitochondria, and (c) purification of mitochondria. Many reports have used isoform-specific anti-NOS antibodies in order to differentiate the NOS isoforms. However, it is well known that the specificity of antibodies (even monoclonal ones) is not always reliable for depends on the antigenicity of the epitope and the binding constant of the antigen with the antibody. In this regard, multiple bands in western blots are detected by anti-nNOS, antieNOS, and anti-iNOS antibodies when they supposedly should react only with a certain isoform of NOS (36). Epitopes all three NOS isoforms of the antibody have high homology to NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase (118). In our hands, anti-nNOS antibody from BD Biosciences Pharmingen (clone 16) crossreacted strongly with other NADPH-binding proteins such as glutamate

dehydrogenase: (GDH: P10860). C1-Methylenetetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase (C1-THF synthase; P27653), and 10-formyltetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase (10-FTHFDH; P28037). These proteins were identified by amino acid sequencing performed with Edman degradation of trypsin fragments and/or MALDI-TOF of the tryptic fragments. The two major bands, 130 kDa and 60 kDa, with the immunoblot with anti-nNOS antibody, were identified as nNOS and GDH by MALDI-TOF analysis; N-terminal amino acid sequencing revealed the minor bands as C1-THF synthase and 10-FTHFDH. This antibody was produced using the NADP-binding site (immunogen 1095-1289) of human nNOS (P29475). In the case of GDH, the NADP-binding site of nNOS has 46% identity in eleven amino acids to that of rat GDH, which would be the cause for the observed crossreactivity.

These facts validate the limited support that the sole use of antibodies provides to the identification of any NOS. Although more time consuming and labor intensive, it is accurate to analyze the actual peptide sequence as it is appropriate for any protein chemistry work. Given that mtNOS is not an abundant protein, advantage of cutting edge technologies—like peptide mass fingerprinting analysis— should be taken.

The second reason is tissue specificity of mtNOS. Although mtNOS was identified as nNOS alpha by the most reliable analysis like peptide mass fingerprinting, the experimental source of mtNOS was still limited to certain organs in specific species (i.e., mitochondria from rat liver, pig and dog heart), although the transcript analysis by RT-PCR indicated the existence of mtNOS in tissue of many organs (liver, brain, heart, muscle, kidney, lung, testis and spleen; 88).

Recently, it has been proposed that a mammalian ortholog of AtNOS1 is one of candidates for mtNOS (119). AtNOS1 is identified as a plant NOS gene which is involved in the hormonal signaling at first (120; Gene ID #AT3G47450.1). The overexpression of the mouse ortholog of this gene in COS-1, an African green monkey kidney fibroblast-like cell line, showed that the mouse ortholog of AtNOS-1 was transported to inner mitochondrial membrane. Although the crucial evidence to identify mouse ortholog of AtNOS-1 as one of mtNOS is still waiting to be uncovered, it should be always taken into account the possibility that mtNOS may exist in various forms depending on different organs and developmental stages.

The last reason is the contamination with NOSs other than mtNOS. For example, NOS from Kupffer cells (hepatic macrophages originated from bone marrow) are endowed with iNOS (121-122) and given that there is always a background of activated cells, its contribution—if not avoided—cannot be dismissed (12). Thus, an increase in mitochondrial NOS activity cannot necessarily be attributed to a change in mtNOS expression, but entirely caused by an overexpression—even a quantitatively minor one—of iNOS, especially in certain clinical situations such as septic shock. Thus, isoforms of NOS may be falsely recognized as mtNOS when mitochondria are crudely prepared and the actual physiological situations not tested in detail.

Recently, the association between eNOS and the outer mitochondrial membrane has been reported in human embryonic kidney (HEK) cells (123). In this study. adenoviral vector system was used for the overexpression of eNOS (123). The binding was found by an in vitro study using cell lines human umbilical vein endothelial cells, and a non-endothelial cell line, human embryonic kidney cells (123). Several experimental issues might be considered when conclusions are raised in terms of identity of mtNOS and its localization. First, the in vitro conditions may be different from physiological ones; overexpression of proteins might lead to localizations different from those found in vivo. Second, although the authors described that a pentabasic amino acid sequence was essential for targeting to mitochondrial outer membrane, this length is not enough for protein targeting to these organelles. In general 17-35 amino acids in length are required as a leader sequence for proper translocation to mitochondrial membranes (124-125). Third, post-translational modifications, such as acylation, which may be relevant for protein targeting and/or activity, may not have been present during the overexpression of eNOS, resulting in altered localization and/or activity. Lastly, the association of eNOS with cvtochrome c oxidase would not be feasible because lacks the PDZ domain required for this binding.

If the binding of eNOS observed *in vitro* holds true *in vivo* situations, eNOS bound to outer mitochondrial membrane may have a distinct function in the cells where no mtNOS was found (31). For example an immunohistochemical study showed that eNOS in rat and mouse sensory neurons was targeted to juxtamitochondrial smooth endoplasmic reticulum (126), suggesting NO generated by this eNOS could diffuse to the inner mitochondrial membrane. The possible explanation would be that these two are complementary phenomena for a tight regulation of respiration (127).

Studies from our lab were performed with purified rat liver mitochondria with very low level of noncontamination mitochondrial after differential centrifugation and Percoll centrifugation. Therefore, only when experiments are done with isolated and purified hepatocytes, the contribution from iNOS can be ignored, and solely mtNOS becomes feasible to detect. Consequently further investigations will be required to verify the possible variation of mtNOS from various sources (different tissue, different organism) not by isoform-specific antibodies, but by more reliable method like peptide mass fingerprinting or gene-targeted mouse models.

# 10. mtNOS IN NO-RELATED BIOLOGICAL PHENOMENA

It might be possible that different sources of NO have different roles in a given organ during aging or development, or in different tissues at a given period. Cytosolic NOS activity is increased as mtNOS activity in brain is decreased during rat aging, possibly exhibiting a compensatory activity (25). Mature neurons express cytosolic NOS, whereas mtNOS is predominant in immature neurons (59). mtNOS from liver primary cell culture decreases to negligible values after 4 to 5 days of culture (Unpublished data, Haynes, V. and Giulivi C, 1999). *In vivo* mtNOS expression and activity increased at late embryonic and early postnatal stages, followed by a decrease in the adult stage (25). These evidences imply that mtNOS activity could be sequentially altered in accordance with mammalian developmental stages.

It will be important to investigate the extent of NO-generated from mtNOS-that contributes to biological reactions beyond mitochondria, and to define the coordination of mtNOS and NOSs expression. mtNOS has been detected from many different organs, similar to nNOS, eNOS, and iNOS. Its ubiquitous distribution implies that mtNOS might play important roles in regulating many biological phenomena through the body. Several physiological conditions that affect mtNOS activity have been reported to date. For instance, mtNOS activity might be upregulated by certain situations like hypoxia (128), cold acclimation (129), or high altitude (32). Moreover, the increase in mtNOS activity might be related to the effect of some pharmaceutical agents. mtNOS activity and protein expression are increased in rat kidney, heart, and liver with the treatment of enalapril angiotensin-converting enzyme (28-29, 130-131).

In contrast, several situations may be related to the decrease in mtNOS activity in rat heart, kidney, and brain (24, 30, 130-133). Decreases in mtNOS activity were described in liver, kidney, brain, and heart of 2-yr old rats (131-133). However, in a different study, similar percentages of mtNOS activity were reported but found statistically insignificant (130). Although such a decline might seem physiologically important, given that also the oxidative phosphorylation capacity of mitochondria declines with age, this decrease might reflect other changes described for mitochondria during aging. Furthermore, interpretation of these results needs some cautions. It is important to verify whether the measured NOS activity is truly originated from the mtNOS, and to eliminate the effects by other NOSs. In certain situations, especially in drastic metabolic changes like cold acclimation, NOS activity from other sources might be responsible for these changes.

# 11. mtNOS changes under pathophysiological conditions

As described above, the mtNOS plays important role in cellular respiration in physiological situations. Studies have provided evidence that certain pathological situations affect mtNOS activity in some tissues (26, 134-137). mtNOS activity was increased (122%) in diaphragm and (32%) in heart in lipopolysaccharide-treated rats (134-135); an increase (270%) of mtNOS was described in skeletal muscle during hypothyroidism (136). In contrast, marked decreased levels of mtNOS expression and activity were described in adenocarcinoma (137). A study using a hyperammonemia rat model also demonstrated decreased mtNOS activity with a hippocampal mitochondrial dysfunction (26). More work is required in the future to clarify the contribution of NOSs other than mtNOS to the reported changes in activity.

mtNOS may be profoundly involved in the cell growth or cell death. A study demonstrated that mtNOS regulates the switch between proliferative and quiescent status of rat liver via redox signaling (138). In a series of studies performed with thymocytes, it was suggested a role for mtNOS in apoptosis (33-35). NO has two paradoxical effects on programmed cell death: pro- and anti- apoptotic reactions in cells (139-142). Concerning the pro-apoptotic effect of NO, mitochondria have been identified as a key organelle for apoptosis, thus it could be easily speculated that mtNOS might control this event. The concept that NO triggers apoptosis has been established by many studies (143-144). NO induces apoptosis via activation of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPT; 143). It has been suggested that the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria to the cytosol is key for this process (144). Oxygen- and nitrogen-reactive species have been proposed to have a role in apoptosis. For instance, the increase in hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) precedes cytochrome c translocation from mitochondria (145). Therefore, it will be important to determine the link among mtNOS, cvtochrome c and MPT induction or in what mechanisms mtNOS might be involved in the pro-apoptotic reaction.

On the contrary, NO has a role as anti-apoptotic molecule under certain situations (146-148). An antiapoptotic effect by NO has been described by its preventive effect on hepatocytes after reperfusion (146). NO treatment of hepatocytes after storage could improve the viability of transplanted livers. Therefore, it might be meaningful to control NO function for clinical applications. Although it has been unknown the extent that mtNOS contribute to this phenomenon, further studies on the mtNOS involvement on apoptosis would be of significance.

# 12. TRANSCRIPTION/TRANSLATION REGULATION OF mtNOS

One of the unsolved questions about mtNOS is how the complex nNOS transcription / translation process is regulated. nNOS has diverse structures and promoter uses, which makes the isoform identification of mtNOS more intricate. The transcription and translation process of nNOS gene is one of the most complicated pathways in biology (149-150). First, four alternative splice variants have been known, lacking PDZ domain, which are multifunctional motifs that mediate protein-protein interactions by binding to the C-terminus of the counterpart protein (151). The distribution of these nNOS variants might be tissue-specific and tightly regulated (152), especially in brain. Alternative patterns of RNA splicing are commonly observed in vertebrate nervous systems because multiple isoforms of proteins are essential to create the complexity of neuronal development and function (153).

In addition to the alternative splice events, the use of alternative promoters has been observed in nNOS gene transcription (154). Nine alternative first exons of nNOS, driven by separate promoters, have been found in the human gastrointestinal tract (149-150). In most cases, the different use of alternative promoters could affect the transcriptional patterns and translational efficiencies (155). It is worth noting that the variant alternative promoters do not usually result in alternative splice variants because they use the same translation initiation site and the same open reading frame. In the processing of human nNOS protein expression, nine distinct first exons are spliced to the common exon 2 of nNOS that has the initiation codon. Similarly, the process for nNOS gene expression has the same mechanism in rodents (108). These multiple forms of exon 1 are selectively used in a tissue-specific manner (154). Given that mtNOS is a nNOS alpha, complexity in its transcription / translation process could be intricate and might be different depending on tissue type. This may contribute to the difficulties of some labs with the isoform identification. Finally, the unknown questions about the regulatory mechanisms of mtNOS transcription are waiting to be resolved: (a) how alternative promoters are utilized for mtNOS expression?; (b) is the selective use tissuespecific?; (c) does the difference of alternative promoters make any difference of the alternative splice variant? Answering these questions will validate significance of mtNOS in physiopathological situations.

## **13. CONCLUSIONS**

mtNOS has a biological importance on cellular respiration, and is a key enzyme for many pathophysiological reactions that are affected by mitochondrial respiration. The broad distribution of mtNOS may imply its impact on aerobic organs. To date, many important features of mtNOS have been recently revealed by our and other labs as discussed above. Nevertheless, much of the physiopathological significance of mtNOS waits to be clarified. For instance, it is still unknown how mtNOS activity coordinates with the expression of other NOS. The expression changes of mtNOS in different organs and during various developmental stages have not been well understood yet. Furthermore, most of the controlling mechanisms of mtNOS expression in vivo, such as transcriptional regulation or epigenetic modifications, are unclear. Thus, more detailed studies will be necessary for more comprehensive understanding of mtNOS roles.

## **14. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This study has been supported by NIH (ES012691).

## **15. REFERENCES**

1. Palmer RM, A. G. Ferrige & S. Moncada: Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. *Nature* 327, 524-526 (1987)

2. Furchgott RF & J. V. Zawadzki: The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. *Nature* 288, 373-376 (1980)

3. Mellion BT, L. J. Ignarro, E. H. Ohlstein, E. G. Pontecorvo, A. L. Hyman & P. J. Kadowitz: Evidence for the inhibitory role of guanosine 3', 5'-monophosphate in ADP-induced human platelet aggregation in the presence of nitric oxide and related vasodilators. *Blood* 57, 946-955 (1981)

4. Ignarro LJ, P. A. Bush, G. M. Buga, K. S. Wood, J. M. Fukuto & J. Rajfer: Nitric oxide and cyclic GMP formation upon electrical field stimulation cause relaxation of corpus cavernosum smooth muscle. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 170, 843-850 (1990)

5. Bult H, G. E. Boeckxstaens, P. A. Pelckmans, F. H. Jordaens, Y. M. Van Maercke & A. G. Herman: Nitric oxide as an inhibitory non-adrenergic non-cholinergic neurotransmitter. *Nature* 345, 346-347 (1990)

6. Ignarro LJ: Nitric oxide: a unique endogenous signaling molecule in vascular biology. *Biosci Rep* 19, 51-71 (1999)

7. Titheradge MA: Nitric oxide in septic shock. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1411, 437-455 (1999)

8. Kirkeboen KA & O. A. Strand: The role of nitric oxide in sepsis--an overview. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 43, 275-288 (1999)

9. Deckel AW: Nitric oxide and nitric oxide synthase in Huntington's disease. *J Neurosci Res* 64, 99-107 (2001)

10. Xu W, L. Z. Liu, M. Loizidou, M. Ahmed & I. G. Charles: The role of nitric oxide in cancer. *Cell Res* 12, 311-320 (2002) 11. MacMicking J, O. W. Xie & C. Nathan: Nitric oxide and

macrophage function. *Annu Rev Immunol* 15, 323-350 (1997) 12. Alderton WK, C. E. Cooper & R. G. Knowles: Nitric oxide

synthases: structure, function and inhibition. *Biochem J* 357, 593-615 (2001)

13. Al-Hijji J, E. Andolf, R. Laurini & S. Batra: Nitric oxide synthase activity in human trophoblast, term placenta and pregnant myometrium. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 1, 51 (2003)

14. Palmer RM, D. S. Ashton & S. Moncada: Vascular endothelial cells synthesize nitric oxide from L-arginine. *Nature* 333, 664-666 (1988)

15. Giulivi C: Characterization and function of mitochondrial nitric-oxide synthase. *Free Radic Biol Med* 34, 397-408 (2003) 16. Kobzik L, B. Stringer, J. L. Balligand, M. B. Reid & J. S. Stamler: Endothelial type nitric oxide synthase in skeletal muscle fibers: mitochondrial relationships. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 211, 375-381 (1995)

17. Bates TE, A. Loesch, G. Burnstock & J. B. Clark: Immunocytochemical evidence for a mitochondrially located nitric oxide synthase in brain and liver. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 213, 896-900 (1995)

18. Bates TE, A. Loesch, G. Burnstock & J. B. Clark: Mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase: a ubiquitous regulator of oxidative phosphorylation? *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 218, 40-44 (1996)

19. Frandsen U, M. Lopez-Figueroa & Y. Hellsten: Localization of nitric oxide synthase in human skeletal muscle. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 227, 88-93 (1996)

20. Ghafourifar P & C. Richter: Nitric oxide synthase activity in mitochondria. *FEBS Lett* 418, 291-296 (1997)

21. Giulivi C, J. J. Poderoso & A. Boveris: Production of nitric oxide by mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* 273, 11038-11043 (1998)

22. Tatoyan A & C. Giulivi: Purification and characterization of a nitric-oxide synthase from rat liver mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* 273, 11044-11048 (1998)

23. Lores-Arnaiz S, G. D'Amico, A. Czerniczyniec, J. Bustamante & A. Boveris: Brain mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase: in vitro and in vivo inhibition by chlorpromazine. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 430, 170-177 (2004)

24. Zaobornyj T, L. B. Valdez, P. La Padula, L. E. Costa & A. Boveris: Effect of sustained hypobaric hypoxia during maturation and aging on rat myocardium. II. mtNOS activity. *J Appl Physiol* 98, 2370-2375 (2005)

25. Riobo NA, M. Melani, N. Sanjuan, M. L. Fiszman, M. C. Gravielle, M. C. Carreras, E. Cadenas & J. J. Poderoso: The modulation of mitochondrial nitric-oxide synthase activity in rat brain development. *J Biol Chem* 277, 42447-42455 (2002)

26. Lores-Arnaiz S, J. C. Perazzo, J. P. Prestifilippo, N. Lago, G. D'Amico, A. Czerniczyniec, J. Bustamante, A. Boveris & A. Lemberg: Hippocampal mitochondrial dysfunction with decreased mtNOS activity in prehepatic portal hypertensive rats. *Neurochem In*, 47, 362-368 (2005) 27. Carreras MC, F. Schopfer, C. Lisdero, N. Riobo & J. J. Poderoso: Mitochondrial function and nitric oxide utilization. *Biol Res* 33, 177-183 (2000)

28. Boveris A, G. D'Amico, S. Lores-Arnaiz & L. E. Costa: Enalapril increases mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase activity in heart and liver. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 5, 691-697 (2003)

29. Boveris A, L. B. Valdez, S. Alvarez, T. Zaobornyj, A. D. Boveris & A. Navarro: Kidney mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 5, 265-271 (2003)

30. Valdez LB, T. Zaobornyj, S. Alvarez, J. Bustamante, L. E. Costa & A. Boveris: Heart mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase. Effects of hypoxia and aging. *Mol Aspects Med* 25, 49-59 (2004)

31. Persichini T, V. Mazzone, F. Polticelli, S. Moreno, G. Venturini, E. Clementi & M. Colasanti: Mitochondrial type I nitric oxide synthase physically interacts with cytochrome c oxidase. *Neurosci Lett* 384, 254-259 (2005)

32. Gonzales GF, F. A. Chung, S. Miranda, L. B. Valdez, T. Zaobornyj, J. Bustamante & A. Boveris: Heart mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase is upregulated in male rats exposed to high altitude (4,340 m). *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 288, H2568-H2573 (2005)

33. Bustamante J, G. Bersier, R. A. Badin, C. Cymeryng, A. Parodi & A. Boveris: Sequential NO production by mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum during induced apoptosis. *Nitric Oxide* 6, 333-341 (2002)

34. Bustamante J, G. Bersier, M. Romero, R. A. Badin & A. Boveris: Nitric oxide production and mitochondrial dysfunction during rat thymocyte apoptosis. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 376, 239-247 (2000)

35. Bustamante J, E. Di Libero, M. Fernandez-Cobo, N. Monti, E. Cadenas & A. Boveris: Kinetic analysis of thapsigargin-induced thymocyte apoptosis. *Free Radic Biol Med* 37, 1490-1498 (2004)

36. Brookes PS: Mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase. *Mitochondrion* 3, 187-204 (2004)

37. Tay YM, K. S. Lim, F. S. Sheu, A. Jenner, M. Whiteman, K. P. Wong & B. Halliwell: Do mitochondria make nitric oxide? no? *Free Radic Res* 38, 591-599 (2004) 38. Brown GC: Cell biology. NO says yes to mitochondria. *Science* 299, 838-839 (2003)

39. Shiva S, P. S. Brookes, R. P. Patel, P. G. Anderson & V. M. Darley-Usmar: Nitric oxide partitioning into

mitochondrial membranes and the control of respiration at cytochrome c oxidase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, 7212-7217 (2001)

40. Torres J, M. A. Sharpe, A. Rosquist, C. E. Cooper & M. T. Wilson: Cytochrome c oxidase rapidly metabolises nitric oxide to nitrite. *FEBS Lett* 475, 263-266 (2000)

41. Borutaite V & G. C. Brown: Rapid reduction of nitric oxide by mitochondria, and reversible inhibition of mitochondrial respiration by nitric oxide. *Biochem J* 315 (Pt 1), 295-299 (1996)

42. Sarti P, A. Giuffre, M. C. Barone, E. Forte, D. Mastronicola & M. Brunori: Nitric oxide and cytochrome oxidase: reaction mechanisms from the enzyme to the cell. *Free Radic Biol Med* 34, 509-520 (2003)

43. Sarti P, A. Giuffre, E. Forte, D. Mastronicola, M. C. Barone & M. Brunori: Nitric oxide and cytochrome c oxidase: mechanisms of inhibition and NO degradation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 274, 183-187 (2000)

44. Obolenskaya M, A. F. Vanin, P. I. Mordvintcev, A. Mulsch & K. Decker: Epr evidence of nitric oxide production by the regenerating rat liver. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 202, 571-576 (1994)

45. Henry Y, M. Lepoivre, J. C. Drapier, C. Ducrocq, J. L. Boucher & A. Guissani: EPR characterization of molecular targets for NO in mammalian cells and organelles. *Faseb J*, 7, 1124-1134 (1993)

46. Feelisch M & E. A. Noack: Correlation between nitric oxide formation during degradation of organic nitrates and activation of guanylate cyclase. *Eur J Pharmacol* 139, 19-30 (1987)

47. Sarkela TM, J. Berthiaume, S. Elfering, A. A. Gybina & C. Giulivi: The modulation of oxygen radical production by nitric oxide in mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* 276, 6945-6949 (2001)

48. Gow AJ, B. P. Luchsinger, J. R. Pawloski, D. J. Singel & J. S. Stamler: The oxyhemoglobin reaction of nitric oxide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 9027-9032 (1999)

49. Hevel JM & M. A. Marletta: Nitric-oxide synthase assays. *Methods Enzymol* 233, 250-258 (1994)

50. French S, C. Giulivi & R. S. Balaban: Nitric oxide synthase in porcine heart mitochondria: evidence for low physiological activity. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 280, H2863-H2867 (2001)

51. Traaseth N, S. Elfering, J. Solien, V. Haynes & C. Giulivi: Role of calcium signaling in the activation of mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase and citric acid cycle. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1658, 64-71 (2004)

52. Kojima H, N. Nakatsubo, K. Kikuchi, S. Kawahara, Y. Kirino, H. Nagoshi, Y. Hirata & T. Nagano: Detection and imaging of nitric oxide with novel fluorescent indicators: diaminofluoresceins. *Anal Chem* 70, 2446-2453 (1998)

53. Kojima H, N. Nakatsubo, K. Kikuchi, Y. Urano, T. Higuchi, J. Tanaka, Y. Kudo & T. Nagano: Direct evidence of NO production in rat hippocampus and cortex using a new fluorescent indicator: DAF-2 DA. *Neuroreport* 9, 3345-3348 (1998)

54. Kojima H, K. Sakurai, K. Kikuchi, S. Kawahara, Y. Kirino, H. Nagoshi, Y. Hirata & T. Nagano: Development of a fluorescent indicator for nitric oxide based on the fluorescein chromophore. *Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo)* 46, 373-375 (1998)

55. Nakatsubo N, H. Kojima, K. Kikuchi, H. Nagoshi, Y. Hirata, D. Maeda, Y. Imai, T. Irimura & T. Nagano: Direct

evidence of nitric oxide production from bovine aortic endothelial cells using new fluorescence indicators: diaminofluoresceins. *FEBS Lett* 427, 263-266 (1998)

56. Dedkova EN, X. Ji, S. L. Lipsius & L. A. Blatter: Mitochondrial calcium uptake stimulates nitric oxide production in mitochondria of bovine vascular endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 286, C406-C415 (2004)

57. Zhang X, W. S. Kim, N. Hatcher, K. Potgieter, L. L. Moroz, R. Gillette & J. V. Sweedler: Interfering with nitric oxide measurements. 4,5-diaminofluorescein reacts with dehydroascorbic acid and ascorbic acid. *J Biol Chem* 277, 48472-48478 (2002)

58. Collmann C, M. A. Carlsson, B. S. Hansson & A. Nighorn: Odorant-evoked nitric oxide signals in the antennal lobe of Manduca sexta. *J Neurosci* 24, 6070-6077 (2004)

59. Marks JD, C. Boriboun & J. Wang: Mitochondrial nitric oxide mediates decreased vulnerability of hippocampal neurons from immature animals to NMDA. *J Neurosci* 25, 6561-6575 (2005)

60. Ye X, W. S. Kim, S. S. Rubakhin & J. V. Sweedler: Measurement of nitric oxide by 4,5-diaminofluorescein without interferences. *Analyst*, 129, 1200-1205 (2004)

61. Barone MC, V. M. Darley-Usmar & P. S. Brookes: Reversible inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase by peroxynitrite proceeds through ascorbate-dependent generation of nitric oxide. *J Biol Chem* 278, 27520-27524 (2003)

62. Hernanz R, M. J. Alonso, H. Zibrandtsen, Y. Alvarez, M. Salaices & U. Simonsen: Measurements of nitric oxide concentration and hyporeactivity in rat superior mesenteric artery exposed to endotoxin. *Cardiovasc Res* 62, 202-211 (2004)

63. Shibuki K: An electrochemical microprobe for detecting nitric oxide release in brain tissue. *Neurosci Res* 9, 69-76 (1990)

64. Zhang X: Real time and in vivo monitoring of nitric oxide by electrochemical sensors--from dream to reality. *Front Biosci* 9, 3434-3446 (2004)

65. Mantione KJ & G. B. Stefano: A sub-nanomolar realtime nitric oxide probe: in vivo nitric oxide release in heart. *Med Sci Monit* 10, MT47-MT49 (2004)

66. Kanai AJ, L. L. Pearce, P. R. Clemens, L. A. Birder, M. M. VanBibber, S. Y. Choi, W. C. de Groat & J. Peterson: Identification of a neuronal nitric oxide synthase in isolated cardiac mitochondria using electrochemical detection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, 14126-14131 (2001)

67. Bianchi K, A. Rimessi, A. Prandini, G. Szabadkai & R. Rizzuto: Calcium and mitochondria: mechanisms and functions of a troubled relationship. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1742, 119-131 (2004)

68. Jacobson J & M. R. Duchen: Interplay between mitochondria and cellular calcium signalling. *Mol Cell Biochem* 256-257, 209-218 (2004)

69. Schweizer M & C. Richter: Peroxynitrite stimulates the pyridine nucleotide-linked Ca2+ release from intact rat liver mitochondria. *Biochemistry* 35, 4524-4528 (1996)

70. Lotscher HR, K. H. Winterhalter, E. Carafoli & C. Richter: Hydroperoxides can modulate the redox state of pyridine nucleotides and the calcium balance in rat liver mitochondria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 76, 4340-4344 (1979)

71. Richter C: Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species regulate mitochondrial Ca2+ homeostasis and respiration. *Biosci Rep* 17, 53-66 (1997)

72. Xu W, L. Liu, I. G. Charles & S. Moncada: Nitric oxide induces coupling of mitochondrial signalling with the endoplasmic reticulum stress response. *Nat Cell Biol* 6, 1129-1134 (2004)

73. Huser J, L. A. Blatter & S.-S. Sheu: Mitochondrial Calcium in Heart Cells: Beat-to-Beat Oscillations or Slow Integration of Cytosolic Transients? *Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes* 32, 27-33 (2000)

74. Rizzuto R, P. Pinton, W. Carrington, F. S. Fay, K. E. Fogarty, L. M. Lifshitz, R. A. Tuft & T. Pozzan: Close contacts with the endoplasmic reticulum as determinants of mitochondrial Ca2+ responses. *Science* 280, 1763-1766 (1998)

75. Rizzuto R, P. Pinton, M. Brini, A. Chiesa, L. Filippin & T. Pozzan: Mitochondria as biosensors of calcium microdomains. *Cell Calcium* 26, 193-200 (1999)

76. Montero M, M. T. Alonso, E. Carnicero, I. Cuchillo-Ibanez, A. Albillos, A. G. Garcia, J. Garcia-Sancho & J. Alvarez: Chromaffin-cell stimulation triggers fast millimolar mitochondrial Ca2+ transients that modulate secretion. *Nat Cell Biol* 2, 57-61 (2000)

77. Monteith GR & M. P. Blaustein: Heterogeneity of mitochondrial matrix free ca2+: resolution of Ca2+ dynamics in individual mitochondria in situ. *Am J Physiol* 276, C1193-C1204 (1999)

78. Csordas G, A. P. Thomas & G. Hajnoczky: Quasisynaptic calcium signal transmission between endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria. *Embo J* 18, 96-108 (1999)

79. Wang HJ, G. Guay, L. Pogan, R. Sauve & I. R. Nabi: Calcium regulates the association between mitochondria and a smooth subdomain of the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Cell Biol* 150, 1489-1498 (2000)

80. Yi M, D. Weaver & G. Hajnoczky: Control of mitochondrial motility and distribution by the calcium signal: a homeostatic circuit. *J Cell Biol* 167, 661-672 (2004)

81. Cleeter MW, J. M. Cooper, V. M. Darley-Usmar, S. Moncada & A. H. Schapira: Reversible inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase, the terminal enzyme of the mitochondrial respiratory chain, by nitric oxide. Implications for neurodegenerative diseases. *FEBS Lett* 345, 50-54 (1994)

82. Brown GC & C. E. Cooper: Nanomolar concentrations of nitric oxide reversibly inhibit synaptosomal respiration by competing with oxygen at cytochrome oxidase. *FEBS Lett* 356, 295-298 (1994)

83. Solien J, V. Haynes & C. Giulivi: Differential requirements of calcium for oxoglutarate dehydrogenase and mitochondrial nitric-oxide synthase under hypoxia: impact on the regulation of mitochondrial oxygen consumption. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* 142, 111-117 (2005)

84. Torres J, C. E. Cooper & M. T. Wilson: A common mechanism for the interaction of nitric oxide with the oxidized binuclear centre and oxygen intermediates of cytochrome c oxidase. *J Biol Chem* 273, 8756-8766 (1998) 85. Cooper CE: Nitric oxide and cytochrome oxidase: substrate, inhibitor or effector? *Trends Biochem Sci* 27, 33-39 (2002)

86. Campanella M, P. Pinton & R. Rizzuto: Mitochondrial Ca2+ homeostasis in health and disease. *Biol Res* 37, 653-660 (2004)

87. Haynes V, S. Elfering, N. Traaseth & C. Giulivi: Mitochondrial nitric-oxide synthase: enzyme expression, characterization, and regulation. *J Bioenerg Biomembr* 36, 341-346 (2004)

88. Elfering SL, T. M. Sarkela & C. Giulivi: Biochemistry of mitochondrial nitric-oxide synthase. *J Biol Chem* 277, 38079-38086 (2002)

89. Sessa WC, C. M. Barber & K. R. Lynch: Mutation of N-myristoylation site converts endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase from a membrane to a cytosolic protein. *Circ Res* 72, 921-924 (1993)

90. Liu J, G. Garcia-Cardena & W. C. Sessa: Biosynthesis and palmitoylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase: mutagenesis of palmitoylation sites, cysteines-15 and/or -26, argues against depalmitoylation-induced translocation of the enzyme. *Biochemistry* 34, 12333-12340 (1995)

91. Liu J, T. E. Hughes & W. C. Sessa: The first 35 amino acids and fatty acylation sites determine the molecular targeting of endothelial nitric oxide synthase into the Golgi region of cells: a green fluorescent protein study. *J Cell Biol* 137, 1525-1535 (1997)

92. Shaul PW, E. J. Smart, L. J. Robinson, Z. German, I. S. Yuhanna, Y. Ying, R. G. Anderson & T. Michel: Acylation targets emdothelial nitric-oxide synthase to plasmalemmal caveolae. *J Biol Chem* 271, 6518-6522 (1996)

93. Govers R & T. J. Rabelink: Cellular regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 280, F193-206 (2001)

94. Liu J & W. C. Sessa: Identification of covalently bound amino-terminal myristic acid in endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *J Biol Chem* 269, 11691-11694 (1994)

95. Busconi L & T. Michel: Endothelial nitric oxide synthase. N-terminal myristoylation determines subcellular localization. *J Biol Chem* 268, 8410-8413 (1993)

96. Navarro-Lerida I, M. M. Corvi, A. A. Barrientos, F. Gavilanes, L. G. Berthiaume & I. Rodriguez-Crespo: Palmitoylation of inducible nitric-oxide synthase at Cys-3 is required for proper intracellular traffic and nitric oxide synthesis. *J Biol Chem* 279, 55682-55689 (2004)

97. Maurer-Stroh S, M. Gouda, M. Novatchkova, A. Schleiffer, G. Schneider, F. L. Sirota, M. Wildpaner, N. Hayashi & F. Eisenhaber: MYRbase: analysis of genomewide glycine myristoylation enlarges the functional spectrum of eukaryotic myristoylated proteins. *Genome Biol* 5, R21 (2004)

98. Simon SM & A. Aderem: Myristoylation of proteins in the yeast secretory pathway. *J Biol Chem* 267, 3922-3931 (1992)

99. Magee AI, A. H. Koyama, C. Malfer, D. Wen & M. J. Schlesinger: Release of fatty acids from virus glycoproteins by hydroxylamine. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 798, 156-166 (1984)

100. Johnson DR, R. S. Bhatnagar, L. J. Knoll & J. I. Gordon: Genetic and biochemical studies of protein N-myristoylation. *Annu Rev Biochem* 63, 869-914 (1994)

101. Resh MD: Fatty acylation of proteins: new insights into membrane targeting of myristoylated and palmitoylated proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1451, 1-16 (1999) 102. Michel T: Targeting and translocation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 32, 1361-1366 (1999)

103. Patterson SI: Posttranslational protein Spalmitoylation and the compartmentalization of signaling molecules in neurons. *Biol Res* 35, 139-150 (2002)

104. Zha J, S. Weiler, K. J. Oh, M. C. Wei & S. J. Korsmeyer: Posttranslational N-myristoylation of BID as a molecular switch for targeting mitochondria and apoptosis. *Science* 290, 1761-1765 (2000)

105. Robinson LJ & T. Michel: Mutagenesis of palmitoylation sites in endothelial nitric oxide synthase identifies a novel motif for dual acylation and subcellular targeting. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92, 11776-11780 (1995)

106. Van Geldre LA, N. H. Fraeyman & R. A. Lefebvre: Subcellular localization of neuronal nitric oxide synthase in rat small intestine. *Biochem Pharmacol* 60, 145-153 (2000) 107. Hecker M, A. Mulsch & R. Busse: Subcellular localization and characterization of neuronal nitric oxide synthase. *J Neurochem* 62, 1524-1529 (1994)

108. Brenman JE, D. S. Chao, S. H. Gee, A. W. McGee, S. E. Craven, D. R. Santillano, Z. Wu, F. Huang, H. Xia, M. F. Peters, S. C. Froehner & D. S. Bredt: Interaction of nitric oxide synthase with the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95 and alpha1-syntrophin mediated by PDZ domains. *Cell* 84, 757-767 (1996)

109. Kone BC: Protein-protein interactions controlling nitric oxide synthases. *Acta Physiol Scand* 168, 27-31 (2000)

110. Brown GC: Regulation of mitochondrial respiration by nitric oxide inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1504, 46-57 (2001)

111. Dimmeler S, I. Fleming, B. Fisslthaler, C. Hermann, R. Busse & A. M. Zeiher: Activation of nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cells by Akt-dependent phosphorylation. *Nature* 399, 601-605 (1999)

112. Fulton D, J. P. Gratton, T. J. McCabe, J. Fontana, Y. Fujio, K. Walsh, T. F. Franke, A. Papapetropoulos & W. C. Sessa: Regulation of endothelium-derived nitric oxide production by the protein kinase Akt. *Nature* 399, 597-601 (1999)

113. Michell BJ, Z. Chen, T. Tiganis, D. Stapleton, F. Katsis, D. A. Power, A. T. Sim & B. E. Kemp: Coordinated control of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase phosphorylation by protein kinase C and the cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *J Biol Chem* 276, 17625-17628 (2001)

114. Dimmeler S, E. Dernbach & A. M. Zeiher: Phosphorylation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase at ser-1177 is required for VEGF-induced endothelial cell migration. *FEBS Lett* 477, 258-262 (2000)

115. Huang PL, T. M. Dawson, D. S. Bredt, S. H. Snyder & M. C. Fishman: Targeted disruption of the neuronal nitric oxide synthase gene. *Cell* 75, 1273-1286 (1993)

116. Lacza Z, J. A. Snipes, J. Zhang, E. M. Horvath, J. P. Figueroa, C. Szabo & D. W. Busija: Mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase is not eNOS, nNOS or iNOS. *Free Radic Biol Med* 35, 1217-1228 (2003)

117. Boveris A, S. L. Arnaiz, J. Bustamante, S. Alvarez, L. Valdez, A. D. Boveris & A. Navarro: Pharmacological regulation of mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase. *Methods Enzymol* 359, 328-339 (2002)

118. Bredt DS, P. M. Hwang, C. E. Glatt, C. Lowenstein, R. R. Reed & S. H. Snyder: Cloned and expressed nitric oxide synthase structurally resembles cytochrome P-450 reductase. *Nature* 351, 714-718 (1991)

119. Zemojtel T, M. Kolanczyk, N. Kossler, S. Stricker, R. Lurz, I. Mikula, M. Duchniewicz, M. Schuelke, P. Ghafourifar, P. Martasek, M. Vingron & S. Mundlos: Mammalian mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase: Characterization of a novel candidate. *FEBS Lett* 580, 455-462 (2006)

120. Guo FQ, M. Okamoto & N. M. Crawford: Identification of a plant nitric oxide synthase gene involved in hormonal signaling. *Science* 302, 100-103 (2003)

121. Billiar TR, R. D. Curran, D. J. Stuehr, M. A. West, B. G. Bentz & R. L. Simmons: An L-arginine-dependent mechanism mediates Kupffer cell inhibition of hepatocyte protein synthesis in vitro. *J Exp Med* 169, 1467-1472 (1989)

122. Mustafa SB & M. S. Olson: Expression of nitric-oxide synthase in rat Kupffer cells is regulated by cAMP. *J Biol Chem* 273, 5073-5080 (1998)

123. Gao S, J. Chen, S. V. Brodsky, H. Huang, S. Adler, J. H. Lee, N. Dhadwal, L. Cohen-Gould, S. S. Gross & M. S. Goligorsky: Docking of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) to the mitochondrial outer membrane: a pentabasic amino acid sequence in the autoinhibitory domain of eNOS targets a proteinase K-cleavable peptide on the cytoplasmic face of mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* 279, 15968-15974 (2004)

124. Ni L, T. S. Heard & H. Weiner: In vivo mitochondrial import. A comparison of leader sequence charge and structural relationships with the in vitro model resulting in evidence for co-translational import. *J Biol Chem* 274, 12685-12691 (1999)

125. Hammen PK & H. Weiner: Mitochondrial leader sequences: structural similarities and sequence differences. *J Exp Zool* 282, 280-283 (1998)

126. Henrich M, K. Hoffmann, P. Konig, M. Gruss, T. Fischbach, A. Godecke, G. Hempelmann & W. Kummer: Sensory neurons respond to hypoxia with NO production associated with mitochondria. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 20, 307-322 (2002)

127. Clementi E, G. C. Brown, N. Foxwell & S. Moncada: On the mechanism by which vascular endothelial cells regulate their oxygen consumption. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 1559-1562 (1999)

128. Lacza Z, M. Puskar, J. P. Figueroa, J. Zhang, N. Rajapakse & D. W. Busija: Mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase is constitutively active and is functionally upregulated in hypoxia. *Free Radic Biol Med* 31, 1609-1615 (2001)

129. Peralta JG, P. V. Finocchietto, D. Converso, F. Schopfer, M. C. Carreras & J. J. Poderoso: Modulation of mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase and energy expenditure in rats during cold acclimation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 284, H2375-H2383 (2003)

130. Costa LE, P. La-Padula, S. Lores-Arnaiz, G. D'Amico, A. Boveris, M. L. Kurnjek & N. Basso: Long-term angiotensin II inhibition increases mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase and not antioxidant enzyme activities in rat heart. *J Hypertens* 20, 2487-2494 (2002)

131. de Cavanagh EM, B. Piotrkowski, N. Basso, I. Stella, F. Inserra, L. Ferder & C. G. Fraga: Enalapril and losartan

attenuate mitochondrial dysfunction in aged rats. Faseb J 17, 1096-1098 (2003)

132. Navarro A & A. Boveris: Rat brain and liver mitochondria develop oxidative stress and lose enzymatic activities on aging. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 287, R1244-R1249 (2004)

133. Navarro A: Mitochondrial enzyme activities as biochemical markers of aging. *Mol Aspects Med* 25, 37-48 (2004)

134. Alvarez S & A. Boveris: Mitochondrial nitric oxide metabolism in rat muscle during endotoxemia. *Free Radic Biol Med* 37, 1472-1478 (2004)

135. Boveris A, S. Alvarez & A. Navarro: The role of mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase in inflammation and septic shock. *Free Radic Biol Med* 33, 1186-1193 (2002)

136. Carreras MC, J. G. Peralta, D. P. Converso, P. V. Finocchietto, I. Rebagliati, A. A. Zaninovich & J. J. Poderoso: Modulation of liver mitochondrial NOS is implicated in thyroid-dependent regulation of O(2) uptake. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 281, H2282-H2288 (2001)

137. Galli S, M. I. Labato, E. Bal de Kier Joffe, M. C. Carreras & J. J. Poderoso: Decreased mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase activity and hydrogen peroxide relate persistent tumoral proliferation to embryonic behavior. *Cancer Res* 63, 6370-6377 (2003)

138. Carreras MC, D. P. Converso, A. S. Lorenti, M. Barbich, D. M. Levisman, A. Jaitovich, V. G. Antico Arciuch, S. Galli & J. J. Poderoso: Mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase drives redox signals for proliferation and quiescence in rat liver development. *Hepatology* 40, 157-166 (2004)

139. Bosca L & S. Hortelano: Mechanisms of nitric oxidedependent apoptosis: involvement of mitochondrial mediators. *Cell Signal* 11, 239-244 (1999)

140. Taylor EL, I. L. Megson, C. Haslett & A. G. Rossi: Nitric oxide: a key regulator of myeloid inflammatory cell apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* 10, 418-430 (2003)

141. Vieira H & G. Kroemer: Mitochondria as targets of apoptosis regulation by nitric oxide. *IUBMB Life* 55, 613-616 (2003)

142. Razavi HM, J. A. Hamilton & Q. Feng: Modulation of apoptosis by nitric oxide: implications in myocardial ischemia and heart failure. *Pharmacol Ther* 106, 147-162 (2005)

143. Hortelano S, B. Dallaporta, N. Zamzami, T. Hirsch, S. A. Susin, I. Marzo, L. Bosca & G. Kroemer: Nitric oxide induces apoptosis via triggering mitochondrial permeability transition. *FEBS Lett* 410, 373-377 (1997)

144. Hortelano S, A. M. Alvarez & L. Bosca: Nitric oxide induces tyrosine nitration and release of cytochrome c preceding an increase of mitochondrial transmembrane potential in macrophages. *Faseb J* 13, 2311-2317 (1999)

145. Oursler MJ, E. W. Bradley, S. L. Elfering & C. Giulivi: Native, not nitrated, cytochrome c and mitochondria-derived hydrogen peroxide drive osteoclast apoptosis. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 288, C156-C168 (2005)

146. Kim JS, S. Ohshima, P. Pediaditakis & J. J. Lemasters: Nitric oxide protects rat hepatocytes against reperfusion injury mediated by the mitochondrial permeability transition. *Hepatology* 39, 1533-1543 (2004)

147. Kim YM, R. V. Talanian & T. R. Billiar: Nitric oxide inhibits apoptosis by preventing increases in caspase-3-like activity via two distinct mechanisms. *J Biol Chem* 272, 31138-31148 (1997)

148. Mannick JB, K. Asano, K. Izumi, E. Kieff & J. S. Stamler: Nitric oxide produced by human B lymphocytes inhibits apoptosis and Epstein-Barr virus reactivation. *Cell* 79, 1137-1146 (1994)

149. Saur D, H. Paehge, V. Schusdziarra & H. D. Allescher: Distinct expression of splice variants of neuronal nitric oxide synthase in the human gastrointestinal tract. *Gastroenterology* 118, 849-858 (2000)

150. Saur D, B. Seidler, H. Paehge, V. Schusdziarra & H. D. Allescher: Complex regulation of human neuronal nitric-oxide synthase exon 1c gene transcription. Essential role of Sp and ZNF family members of transcription factors. *J Biol Chem* 277, 25798-25814 (2002)

151. Sheng M & C. Sala: PDZ domains and the organization of supramolecular complexes. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 24, 1-29 (2001)

152. Lee MA, L. Cai, N. Hubner, Y. A. Lee & K. Lindpaintner: Tissue- and development-specific expression of multiple alternatively spliced transcripts of rat neuronal nitric oxide synthase. *J Clin Invest* 100, 1507-1512 (1997)

153. Lodish HB, Arnold; Zipursky, S. Lawrence; Matsudaira, Paul; Baltimore, David; Darnell, James E: Molecular Cell Biology 4th ed. W. H. Freeman and Company, New York (1999)

154. Wang Y, D. C. Newton, G. B. Robb, C. L. Kau, T. L. Miller, A. H. Cheung, A. V. Hall, S. VanDamme, J. N. Wilcox & P. A. Marsden: RNA diversity has profound effects on the translation of neuronal nitric oxide synthase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 12150-12155 (1999)

155. Landry JR, D. L. Mager & B. T. Wilhelm: Complex controls: the role of alternative promoters in mammalian genomes. *Trends Genet* 19, 640-648 (2003)

Abbreviations: NO: nitric oxide; mtNOS: mitochondrial nitric-oxide synthase; nNOS: neuronal nitric-oxide synthase; iNOS: inducible nitric-oxide synthase; eNOS: endothelial nitric-oxide synthase; EPR: electron paramagnetic resonance; diaminofluorescein-2: PMF: DAF-2: peptide mass fingerprinting: oxvMb: oxvmvoglobin: metmyoglobin: metMb; L-NMMA: N<sup>G</sup>-Monomethyl-L-arginine; NADPH: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; FAD: flavin adenine dinucleotide; FMN: flavin mononucleotide; MPT; mitochondrial permeability transition; sGC: soluble isoform of guanylate cyclase; SMP: submitochondrial particle; MALDI-TOF: matrix assisted laser desorption /ionization- time of flight; PMF: peptide mass fingerprinting

**Key Words:** Mitochondria, Mitochondrion, Mitochondrial Nitric Oxide, mtNOS, Calcium Signaling, Peroxynitrite, Cellular Respiration, Apoptosis, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr. Cecilia Giulivi, University of California, School of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Molecular Biosciences, 1311 Haring Hall, One Shields Ave., Davis, CA 95616, Tel: 530-754-8603, Fax. 530-752-4698, E-mail: cgiulivi@ucdavis.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol11.htm